Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Hazardous Materials



Review Date-palm fibers media filters as a potential technology for tertiary domestic wastewater treatment

Khalifa Riahi^{a,*}, Abdallah Ben Mammou^{b,1}, Béchir Ben Thayer^a

^a Laboratoire de Chimie & Qualité des Eaux, Département d'Aménagement & Environnement, Ecole Supérieure des Ingénieurs de l'Equipement Rural, Medjez El Bab 9070, Tunisia ^b Laboratoire de Ressources Minérales & Environnement, Département de Géologie, Faculté des Sciences de Tunis, Campus Universitaire, Tunis-El Manar 2092, Tunisia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 October 2007 Received in revised form 4 April 2008 Accepted 7 April 2008 Available online 11 April 2008

Keywords: Date-palm fibers Wastewater treatment Filtration Environment Tunisia

ABSTRACT

A number of municipal wastewater treatment systems were developed to improve effluent water quality, however economic aspects should be considered. This study was thus carried out to investigate the application of date-palm fibers filtration as an efficient method to economically remove turbidity, phosphorus, organics in term of COD and helminth eggs of secondary domestic wastewater from an activated sludge treatment process. Column experiments were investigated to study the efficiency of date-palm fibers filters media used in this work for the removal of targeted matter under operational conditions (flow rate, filter depth, and diameter of the fibers). The results indicate that diameter of the fibers had the most significant factor affecting the removal of targeted matter. Pilot test results indicated that date-palm fibers filtration removed up to 54.9% of turbidity, 80.6% of COD, 57.7% of phosphorus and 98% of helminth eggs. Definitely, it could be concluded that the date-palm fibers could offer an appreciable economic and environmental potential, which should be in a position to effectively contribute to the valorisation of such as date-palm by-products for domestic or industrial wastewater treatment in southern of Tunisia.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1	Introduction	609
2.	Materials and methods	609
	2.1. Filter setup	609
	2.2. Design and operational conditions	609
	2.3. Materials-secondary effluents characteristics	609
	2.4. Analytical procedure	610
3.	Results and discussion	610
	3.1. Turbidity removal	610
	3.2. Organic removal (COD)	610
	3.3. Phosphorus removal (PO ₄ ³⁻)	611
	3.4. Helminth eggs removal	611
	3.5. Backwashing	611
4.	Discussion	611
	4.1. Filtration mechanisms	611
	4.2. Comparison with sand bed filters	612
	4.3. The prospect of using date-palm fibers materials	612
5.	Conclusions	612
	Acknowledgements	613
	References	613

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +216 78 562 300; fax: +216 78 561 700. *E-mail address*: khalifa_riahi31@yahoo.fr (K. Riahi).





¹ Tel.: +216 71 872 600; fax: +216 71 885 008.

^{0304-3894/\$ –} see front matter @ 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.04.013

K. Riahi et al. / Journal of Hazardous Materials 161 (2009) 608-613

1. Introduction

The date palm *Phoenix dactylifera* L. is one of the most cultivated palms around the world. It is commonly found in the Afro-Asiatic dry-band, which stretches from North Africa to the Middle East [1,2]. It has a good tolerance to cold and dry-hot climates. In the Maghreb countries, and particularly in Tunisia, oases cover almost 40,000 ha and represent an original form of human development in very harsh climatic conditions [3,4]. Date palms have a fibrous structure, with four types of fibers: leaf fibers in the peduncle, baste fibers in the stem, wood fibers in the trunk and surface fibers around the trunk [5]. Surface fiber was chosen in this study as it seemed most suitable for exploitation. After annually trimming operations, enormous quantities of palm fiber wastes are thrown away, except in smaller scales for artisan products [6,7].

Among the various wastewater treatment processes, filtration is one of the effective and attractive processes to improve effluent water quality. Several filters media are eligible for such a purpose. Activated carbon (powdered or granular) is the most widely used adsorbent because it has excellent adsorption efficiency for organic compounds. However, the activated carbon is considered an expensive adsorbent, which makes the wastewater treatment a prohibitive cost step. Several studies have tried to replace the activated carbon with less expensive materials. Therefore, there is a growing interest in using low-cost, easily available materials for the adsorption of organics and nutriments (P. N...). Consequently, a number of low-cost, easily available materials are being studied for the removal of metals [8], dyes [9] and nutriments [10] from domestic or industrial wastewater at different operating conditions. Many studies have been conducted on the wastewater treatment or potable water treatment with depth filters, in which the packing material is an ensemble of fibers. Results have demonstrated that these filters are effective in removing organics [11–13], nutrients [14], particulate [15], and high metal species [16,17]. In this context, the date-palm fibers filters could be also a potential technology for nutriments removal (N, P) from wastewater in order to prevent such as eutrophication of the Medjerda River. This river is Tunisia's crucial waterway providing water to the country supply facilities. It is also vital for the people living near the river. Water from Medjerda is used for irrigation and is pivotal to agriculture of the region. Besides, one of the best options for Tunisian Agriculture is to use secondary domestic wastewater, filter and disinfect the effluent before it is reused in agriculture [18]. The final effluent must contain less than 1 helminth egg (HE/L) per liter and less than 1000 faecal coliforms/100 mL while still retaining nutrients and organic matter for their agronomic benefits. The application of such materials to the real conditions of domestic or industrial effluent treatment requires knowledge of their reactivity and the content of their adsorption sites to optimize the retention processes. Work to optimize the date-palm fibers filtration process is needed to develop the potential of this biofilm-based treatment in order to achieve strict discharge requirements at a reasonable cost.

The objective of the study reported herein was to investigate the application of date-palm fibers filters as porous medium for the tertiary domestic wastewater treatment. The removal of turbidity, organics in term of COD, nutriments (PO_4^{3-}), and parasites (helminth eggs) of secondary wastewater from an activated sludge treatment process by the later filters media was evaluated under various design, operational, and water quality conditions. The impacts of filter diameter, filter depth, and flow rate on removal of monitoring parameters were studied. Backwash and filtration runs were also evaluated.

Table 1

Design and operational conditions of date-palm fibers filtration

Factors (units)	Diameter of fibers (mm)	Filter depth (m)	Flow rate (mL/min)
High	0.8-1.2	0.36	72
Medium	0.5-0.8	0.24	36
Low	0.2-0.5	0.12	12

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Filter setup

A pilot-scale unit was set up at laboratory as shown in Fig. 1. A glass column (55 cm long, with an inner diameter of 6 cm) was packed with different bed heights (12, 24, and 36 cm) of filter media on a glass-wool support and was loaded with secondary effluent, which was domestic wastewater collected from an activated sludge treatment plant of the station of Medjez El Bab (North of Tunisia). Gravel was fitted at the outlet of the column in order to support medium and to prevent the loss of the adsorbent particles. The filter bed is backwashed with filtered wastewater.

2.2. Design and operational conditions

Three design and operational factors (filter diameter, filter depth, and flow rate), and three levels (high, medium, and low) of each factor, were investigated in this study. Design and operational conditions are presented in Table 1. Three filters with an internal diameter of 6 cm were set up, and each of them was loaded with different diameter ranges of date-palm fibers media (0.2–0.5, 0.5–0.8 and 0.8–1.2 mm). Fixed-bed up-flow filter media was fed by a peristaltic pump at a constant flow rate, ranging from 12 to 72 mL min⁻¹. Each filtration run lasted 36 h.

2.3. Materials-secondary effluents characteristics

The natural fibers used in this research are from the surface of the turn of *Phoenix dactylifera* L. date palm obtained from Mednine (southern of Tunisia). One type of date-palm surface fibers (DPSF),



Fig. 1. Date-palm fibers filter setup.

Table	2
-------	---

Mechanical	properties	of date-	palm	fibers
------------	------------	----------	------	--------

Palm types	Deglette-Nour
Fiber length (mm) (local name)	100
Condition	
Dry	
Tensile strength (MPa)	72.34 ± 18
Elongation (%)	8.7 ± 2.2
Modulus of elasticity (GPa)	3.15 ± 1.5
Wet	
Tensile strength (MPa)	74.34 ± 15
Elongation (%)	9.5 ± 2.5
Modulus of elasticity (GPa)	2.3 ± 2

corresponding to the principal palms: Deglette-Nour (local name), was tested. The date-palm surface fiber are naturally weaved, and are pulled out from trunk in the form of nearly rectangular mesh (length 300–500 mm, width 200–300 mm) formed with tree superposing layers. The layers are easily separated when immersed in water as individual fibers of diameter 0.2–0.8 mm. Table 2 presents the mechanical properties of individual date-palm surface fibers. The results show that wet fibers were marginally stronger than dry fibers [19–22].

Secondary domestic wastewater was obtained from an activated sludge treatment plant of the station of Medjez El Bab (north of Tunisia). Characteristics of the secondary domestic wastewater are given in Table 3.

2.4. Analytical procedure

Turbidity, organics in term of COD, nutriments (PO_4^{3-}), and parasites (helminth eggs) were monitored for both filter influent and effluent. Turbidity was measured by a portable turbidity meter (MERCK TURBIQUANT 1500 IR) calibrated with standard solutions (0.02, 10 and 1000 NTU). Organic matter in term of COD was determined in accordance with the closed reflux, colorimetric method. Molybdenum blue (ascorbic acid) absorptiometry was employed

Table 3

Characteristics of the secondary domestic wastewater

Parameters	Values
рН	7.4 ± 0.65
Temperature (°C)	18 ± 08
EC (µS/cm)	1773 ± 55
Turbidity (NTU)	27 ± 06
Suspended solids (mg/L)	25 ± 07
COD (mg/L)	105 ± 20
BOD ₅ (mg/L)	37 ± 05
TKN-N (mg/L)	22.5 ± 07
$PO_4^{3-}-P(mg/L)$	1.9 ± 0.6
Helminth eggs (N/L)	15 ± 03

Table 4

Turbidity removal as a function of design and operational conditions

for the phosphorous analysis at 880 nm. Helminth eggs (Ascaris and Oxyure) enumeration was conducted with a clear 1-mL counting cell and a compound microscope $(100 \times)$. All these methods of analysis are in conformity with the standard methods used for the Examination of Water and Wastewater [23] with the exception of helminth eggs concentration, which was determined according to a method published by the US EPA [24].

For each 36 h run, monitoring parameters were measured at run times of 2, 4, 8, 12, 16, 20, 24, 28, 32 and 36 h. Ten samples were taken for each filter. In this paper, the removal efficiency of each targeted parameter was the average value of these ten data points. Measurements were made in triplicates for the analysis of each monitoring parameters and data were recorded when the variations in two readings were less than 5% (P < 0.05).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Turbidity removal

The removal efficiencies under various design and operational conditions are summarized in Table 4. The highest turbidity removal efficiency was about $54.9 \pm 1.70\%$, while the lowest was about $28.3 \pm 0.35\%$. The results clearly indicate that the diameter of the fibers played an important role in turbidity removal: a smaller media diameter favoured the removal of turbidity. This observation was expected since a smaller media diameter corresponds to a smaller pore size. Consequently, a more solid matter could be strained by the filter media. Filter depth appeared to have a minor influence on turbidity removal compared with the effect of media diameter. Moreover, no clear relationship between filter depth and turbidity removal efficiency was found. Flow rate had a limited influence on turbidity removal efficiency.

3.2. Organic removal (COD)

As shown in Table 5, the COD removal efficiencies ranged from 42.6 ± 0.15 to $80.6 \pm 0.95\%$, depending on the design, operational and water quality conditions. Similar to turbidity removal, media diameter showed a substantial influence on COD removal: higher organic removal efficiency in term of COD corresponded with smaller media diameter. Compared with media diameter, filter depth and flow rate did not have a notable influence on the removal of organic in term of COD. The organic matter retained in the final effluent and accumulated onto date-palm fibers is friendly to the environment for agronomic benefits of the latter.

Filter depth (m)	Flow rate (mL/min)		Average removal efficiency (%)				
		0.2–0.5 mm media	0.5-0.8 mm media	0.8–1.2 mm media			
0.12	12 36 72	$\begin{array}{c} 48.7 \pm 0.65 \\ 47.3 \pm 0.25 \\ 46.6 \pm 0.10 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 46.3 \pm 0.45 \\ 44.9 \pm 0.20 \\ 43.7 \pm 0.10 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 32.2 \pm 0.30 \\ 31.3 \pm 0.15 \\ 28.2 \pm 0.15 \end{array}$			
0.24	12 36 72	$\begin{array}{c} 51.2 \pm 1.15 \\ 50.8 \pm 0.85 \\ 50.1 \pm 0.35 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 48.3 \pm 0.75 \\ 47.2 \pm 0.60 \\ 47.1 \pm 0.45 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 35.3 \pm 0.55 \\ 33.6 \pm 0.35 \\ 30.1 \pm 0.15 \end{array}$			
0.36	12 36 72	$\begin{array}{c} 54.9 \pm 1.70 \\ 51.7 \pm 0.85 \\ 48.6 \pm 0.40 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 44.2\pm1.20\\ 42.5\pm0.70\\ 41.2\pm0.45\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 32.5 \pm 0.95 \\ 29.9 \pm 0.50 \\ 28.3 \pm 0.35 \end{array}$			

Table 5
Organics removal as a function of design and operational conditions

Filter depth (m)	Flow rate (mL/min)		Average removal efficiency (%)				
		0.2-0.5 mm media	0.5-0.8 mm media	0.8–1.2 mm media			
0.12	12 36 72	$\begin{array}{c} 77.1 \pm 1.25 \\ 74.2 \pm 0.75 \\ 78.2 \pm 0.20 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.7 \pm 0.75 \\ 62.5 \pm 0.25 \\ 66.3 \pm 0.65 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 43.1\pm0.35\\ 42.6\pm0.15\\ 44.2\pm0.15\end{array}$			
0.24	12 36 72	$\begin{array}{c} 74.5\pm1.15\\ 77.1\pm0.35\\ 75.3\pm0.80\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 64.5 \pm 0.85 \\ 67.1 \pm 0.45 \\ 62.8 \pm 0.60 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 43.5\pm0.65\\ 42.7\pm0.35\\ 45.2\pm0.50\end{array}$			
0.36	12 36 72	$\begin{array}{l} 80.6 \pm 0.95 \\ 78.9 \pm 0.60 \\ 77.4 \pm 0.25 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 64.7 \pm 0.65 \\ 67.2 \pm 0.15 \\ 63.1 \pm 0.20 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 47.2\pm0.45\\ 45.3\pm0.70\\ 44.2\pm0.35\end{array}$			

3.3. Phosphorus removal (PO_4^{3-})

The removal efficiencies of orthophosphates under various design and operational conditions are summarized in Table 6. The highest orthophosphates removal efficiency was about 57.7 \pm 1.25%, while the lowest was about 8.2 \pm 0.15%. The results clearly indicate that the media diameter played an important role in phosphorus removal: a smaller media diameter favoured the removal of phosphorus. In addition, the mass of the filter media forming the homogenous fixed bed is proportional to the bed depth and as a result the number of sorption sites increases with the increase in bed depth, leading to a larger sorption capacity of the reactor. The flow rate dependence can be accounted for by the fact that for lower value of flow rate, the contact time is longer, and hence the interaction between phosphorus and the filter media is also greater. This leads to higher rate of phosphorus sorption. On the other hand, for higher flow rate, the contact time is shorter and the phosphorus sorption is also lower, due to lesser interaction.

3.4. Helminth eggs removal

The detailed information of helminth eggs removal is presented in Fig. 2. The results showed an average helminth eggs removal efficiency of $98 \pm 0.70\%$ for filter depth = 0.36 cm and flow rate = 72 mL/min. Similar to turbidity removal, media diameter showed a substantial influence on helminth eggs removal: higher helminth eggs removal efficiency correlated with a smaller media diameter. In addition, the helminth eggs removal rate appears to increase with flow rate. We presume that the flow rate dependence can be accounted for by the fact that for higher value of flow rate, the filling of the fiber filter is faster. As a result, high filtration rates



Fig. 2. Helminth eggs removal as a function of design and operational conditions (filter depth = 0.36 m).

could enhance retention of helminth eggs through the filter media, thus increasing the helminth eggs removal.

To achieve the necessary goal of less than 1 helminth eggs (HE/L) per liter, an additional treatment step is necessary. Because of the extremely low doses of helminth eggs that cause infection, and the resistance of these micro-organisms to traditional methods of disinfection, it is essential to find a final disinfection step that is required to remove faecal coliforms from secondary effluents.

3.5. Backwashing

Effective backwash is essential to the successful long-term operation of filters. In this study, filtered water was used for backwash, and the backwash was completed when backwash water turbidity reached 9 NTU.

The relative backwash water usages are shown in Fig. 3. In this study, the backwash water volumes were about 1.38–3.31 L (while water productions were 17.28, 51.84, 103.68 L for flow rates at 12, 36, 72 mL/min, respectively, after a 24 h run) for 0.2–0.5 mm media diameter, while the backwash water volumes were about 0.86–2.17 L (while water productions were 17.28, 51.84, 103.68 L for flow rates at 12, 36, 72 mL/min, respectively, after a 24 h run) for 0.8–1.2 mm media diameter. So, smaller media filters might require more backwash water usage than larger media filters. Compared with traditional granular filters, the date-palm fibers filter used much lower backwash water flow rate which reduces the size of the backwash pump and power requirement.

4. Discussion

4.1. Filtration mechanisms

Date-palm surface fiber filter is an assembly of fibers that are randomly laid perpendicular to the wastewater flow. The fiber has diameters in the range from 0.2 to 1.2 mm, and forms a network



Fig. 3. Backwash usage (% of water production) (filter depth = 0.36 m).

Tabl	ρ	6
Ian	c	U

Phosphoru	ıs removal	as a	function	of design	and c	operational	conditions

Filter depth (m)	Flow rate (mL/min)	Average removal efficiency (%)			
		0.2-0.5 mm media	0.5-0.8 mm media	0.8-1.2 mm media	
0.12	12	38.4 ± 0.45	30.5 ± 0.65	17.7 ± 0.25	
	36	33.3 ± 0.25	22.9 ± 0.40	11.5 ± 0.15	
	72	25.6 ± 0.20	18.4 ± 0.25	08.2 ± 0.15	
0.24	12	50.1 ± 0.75	37.2 ± 0.65	23.7 ± 0.40	
	36	44.3 ± 0.60	29.1 ± 0.45	18.5 ± 0.60	
	72	32.8 ± 0.25	22.8 ± 0.15	14.1 ± 0.35	
0.36	12	57.7 ± 1.25	45.1 ± 0.95	31.2 ± 0.75	
	36	48.3 ± 0.85	36.5 ± 0.50	29.9 ± 0.30	
	72	37.5 ± 0.45	28.2 ± 0.25	28.3 ± 0.35	

with wide range of distribution in pore size. This kind of structure provides both physical barrier and great adsorbing capacity due to its large surface area, resulting in high capture efficiency for suspended particles and other contaminants in wastewater.

As described in the literature [25], there may be four mechanisms governing the filtration performance of date-palm surface fiber in the wastewater treatment process, namely: impaction, interception, diffusion and adsorption. Impaction and interception are the dominant filtration mechanisms of blocking large particles. Diffusion plays important roles in capturing small particles. The reduction of organics in terms of COD may be governed mainly by adsorption, while that of the PO₄³⁻-P should be attributed mainly to electrostatic interaction and accumulation process. Particle destabilization processes, e.g., coagulation resulting from the Brownian motion, should be considered to enhance the removal performance of date-palm fibers filters. Small colloid particles and some high molecular-weight organic compounds which already deposited on date-palm surface fiber are flocculated or co-precipitated. Therefore, all above mechanisms become more effective.

4.2. Comparison with sand bed filters

To date, sand bed filters have been used as a low-cost effective alternative to conventional septic tank/soil adsorption systems for domestic waste [26,27]. The performance of sand bed filters is influenced by numerous factors, which include bio-augmentation, media depth, grain size distribution, mineral composition of media, pre-treatment, wastewater composition and nutrient concentration, hydraulic and organic loading rates, temperature and dosing techniques [28]. In comparison to traditional granular media filters (e.g., sand), because of its elasticity, the date-palm fibers filters may allows higher filtration rate, lower head loss, and longer filtration run time. Because of low density of these materials, the date-palm fibers filters can be backwashed at a much lower backwash water flow rate than the conventional sand filter. The low backwash water flow rate reduces the size of backwash water pump and the power requirement. Also, the date-palm fibers that adsorbed and accumulated organics and nutrients (phosphorus) can be a friendly product to the environment, as it does not require further treatment for regeneration because of its potential application to acid soils fertilization in arid climate.

4.3. The prospect of using date-palm fibers materials

Typical removal methods for high concentration of phosphorus consist of biological treatments such as the conventional activatedsludge process, chemical treatments, such as precipitation with Al, Fe and Ca components, or a combination of both treatments. However, in the case of a low concentration of phosphorus, bio treatment and precipitation are not effective. Fixed-bed processes using adsorption methods are recommended as the most effective removal processes for low concentrations [29–31].

The results of PO_4^{3-} concentration analysis in liquid phase show that the amount of PO_4^{3-} stilled in the backwash water is about $10 \pm 02\%$ for flow rate at 12 mL/min, for 0.2–0.5 mm media diameter and after a 24 h run. These results indicate that both accumulation and retention of phosphorus onto date-palm fibers is higher (90±02%). The adsorption of PO_4^{3-} onto date-palm fibers may not be completely reversible and the bonding between the sample particles and sorbed PO_4^{3-} is likely strong. Also, for the same experimental condition, analysis in the backwash water shows that the number of helminth eggs was 2 HE/L. Therefore, the desorbability of helminth eggs is about $13.60 \pm 03\%$. These results indicate also that it is relatively difficult for the adsorbed helminth eggs to be desorbed from date-palm fibers. Consequently, the date-palm fibers that adsorbed, accumulated organic and nutrient products such as phosphorus may be a friendly material to the environment, as it does not require further treatment for regeneration because of its potential application to acid soils fertilization in arid climate such as southern of Tunisia.

Date-palm fibers are a natural, inexpensive, and environmental friendly material available in enormous quantities thrown away as wastes after annually trimming operations, which occupies large areas in southern of Tunisia. Because of their low-cost, these materials can be profitably used as alternatives or complements to the more commonly used methods for effluent treatment. The date-palm fibers filter could be a potential technology for tertiary domestic wastewater treatment (at least at the proximity of the effluent treatment plant) in order to remove restrictions on water reuse in arid and semi-arid climate of Tunisia.

5. Conclusions

Based on the above results, the following conclusions can be drawn:

- Pilot test results indicated that date-palm fibers filtration removed up to $54.9 \pm 1.70\%$ of turbidity, $80.6 \pm 0.95\%$ of COD, $57.7 \pm 1.25\%$ of phosphorus and $98 \pm 0.70\%$ of helminth eggs.
- Diameter of the fibers was the most significant factor affecting the treatment of secondary wastewater by date-palm fibers filtration.
- Filtration rate impacted turbidity and phosphorus removal: increasing filtration rate reduced removal efficiencies to some degree.
- Backwash water usage for date-palm fibers filtration was less than traditional sand and anthracite filters. Smaller media filters might require more backwash water usage than larger media filters.

Based on the study, date-palm fibers filtration could be a potential technology for tertiary wastewater treatment as it provides a "green engineering solution". Because the removal efficiencies did not meet the requirement outlined under the Tunisian Norms for wastewater treatment, particle destabilization processes, e.g., coagulation should be considered to enhance the removal performance of date-palm fibers filtration. Further study is also needed on the use of the date-palm fibers filtration as the pre-treatment process for chlorine, UV, ozone, and other disinfection technologies.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to express their gratitude to the Ministère de l'Enseignement Supérieur, Ministère de la Recherche Scientifique de la technologie et de développement des compétences (UR Suivi et Contrôle de la Qualité des Eaux) for financial support granted for the realization of this work as well as L'Office National d'Assainissement, Departement de Béja-Séliana for their valuable efforts in supplying this work.

References

- W.H. Barreveld, Date palm products, FAO Agricultural Services Bulletin No. 101, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, 1993, M-17, ISBN: 92-5-103251-3.
- [2] D.L. Jones, Palms Throughout the World, Reed Book, 1995.
- [3] M. Baaziz, K. Majourhat, K. Bendiab, Date palm culture in the Maghreb countries: constraints and scientific researches, in: Proceedings of the Date Palm International Symposium, Windhoek, Namibia, 2000, pp. 306–311.
- [4] D. Genin, A. Kadri, T. Khorchani, K. Sakkal, F. Belgacem, M. Hamadi, Valorisation of Date-palm By-products (DPBP) for Livestock Feeding in Southern Tunisia: Potentialities and Traditional Utilisation, IRD Publication, 2006, pp. 14–26.
- [5] A. Kriker, G. Debicki, A. Bali, M.M. Khenfer, M. Chabannet, Mechanical properties of date palm fibres and concrete reinforced with date palm fibres in hot-dry climate, Cement Concrete Compos. 27 (2005) 554–564.
- [6] A. Bouguera, A. Doumma, H.E. Evina, N. Hamdouni, J. Musumbu, Valorisation de savoirs et savoir-faire: Perspectives d'implication des acteurs, dont la femme, dans la conservation in-situ de la biodiversité du palmier dattier dans les oasis du Djérid (Tunisie), Projet IPGRI et Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique de Tunisie (INRAT), Série Documents de Travail n° 115/Tunisie (2003), 45–83.
- [7] CWANA, Analysis of the date palm sector in Tunisia, Project GEF-UNDP, RAB/98/G31, Regional Office for Central & West Asia & North Africa (CWANA), 2004, 76–84.
- [8] E.L. Cochrane, S. Lua, S.W. Gibb, I. Villaescusa, A comparison of low-cost biosorbents and commercial sorbents for the removal of copper from aqueous media, J. Hazard. Mater. (2006) 44–51.
- [9] A. Bhatnagar, A.K. Jain, Comparative adsorption study with different industrial wastes as adsorbents for the removal of cationic dyes from water, J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 281 (2005) 49–55.
- [10] K. Karageorgiou, M. Paschalis, G.N. Anastassakis, Removal of phosphate species from solution by adsorption onto calcite used as natural adsorbent, J. Hazard. Mater. A139 (2007) 447–452.
- [11] R. Turnewitsch, B.M. Springer, K. Kiriakoulakis, J.C. Vilas, J. Arístegui, G. Wolff, F. Peine, S. Werk, G. Graf, J.J. Waniek, Determination of particulate organic carbon

(POC) in seawater: the relative methodological importance of artificial gains and losses in two glass-fiber-filter-based techniques, Mar. Chem. 105 (2007) 208-228.

- [12] H. Murayama, N. Moriyama, H. Mitobe, H. Mukai, Y. Takase, K. Shimizu, Y. Kitayama, Evaluation of activated carbon fiber filter for sampling of organochlorine pesticides in environmental water samples, Chemosphere 52 (2003) 825–833.
- [13] A.R. Abdelmoati, Adsorption of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) on glass fibre filters during particulate organic carbon (POC) determination, Water Res. 24 (1990) 763–764.
- [14] R.H. Kim, S. Lee, J. Jeong, H. Lee, Y.K. Kim, Reuse of grey water and rainwater using fiber filter media and metal membrane, Desalination 202 (2007) 326–332.
- [15] R. Gopal, S. Kaur, C.Y. Feng, C. Chan, S. Ramakrishna, S. Tabe, T. Matsuura, Electrospun nanofibrous polysulfone membranes as pre-filters: particulate removal, J. Membr. Sci. 289 (2007) 210–219.
- [16] T.H. Ding, H.H. Lin, C.W. Whang, Determination of chromium(III) in water by solid-phase micro extraction with a polyimide-coated fiber and gas chromatography-flame photometric detection, J. Chromatogr. A 1062 (2005) 49–55.
- [17] Z. Teng, J.Y. Huang, K. Fujita, S. Takizawa, Manganese removal by hollow fiber micro-filter: membrane separation for drinking water, Desalination 139 (2001) 411–418.
- [18] A. Bahri, F. Brissaud, Wastewater reuse in Tunisia: assessing a national policy, Water Sci. Technol. 33 (1996) 87–94.
- [19] D.J. Cook, Concrete and cement composites reinforced with natural fibres, in: Proceedings of the Symposium on Fibrous Concrete, Construction Press Ltd., Lancaster, 1980, pp. 99–114.
- [20] J.H. Savastano, V. Agopyan, Transition zone studies of vegetable fibre-cement paste composites, Cement Concrete Compos. 21 (1999) 49–57.
- [21] R.D. Toledo Filho, K. Scrivener, G.L. England, K. Ghavami, Durability of alkalisensitive sisal and coconut fibres in cement mortar composites, Cement Concrete Compos. 6 (2000) 127–143.
- [22] R.N. Swamy, Natural fibre reinforced cement and concrete., in: R.N. Swamy (Ed.), Concrete Technology and Design, vol. 5, Surrey University Press, 1988, p. 200.
- [23] APHA., AWWA., WPCF., Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Waste Water, 19th ed., APHA, AWWA, WPCF, 1992.
- [24] US EPA, Control of pathogens and vector attraction in sewage sludge, Environmental Regulations and Technology, US Environmental Protection Agency, Report EPA/625/R-92/013 152, Washington, DC, 1992.
- [25] L. Liu, Z. Xu, C. Song, Q. Gu, Y. Sang, G. Lu, H. Hu, F. Li, Adsorption–filtration characteristics of melt-blown polypropylene fiber in purification of reclaimed water, Desalination 201 (2006) 198–206.
- [26] M. Rodgers, M.G. Healy, J. Mulqueen, Organic carbon removal and nitrification of high strength wastewaters using stratified sand filters, Water Res. 39 (2005) 3279–3286.
- [27] Y.W. Kang, K.M. Mancl, O.H. Tuovinen, Treatment of turkey processing wastewater with sand filtration, Bioresour. Technol. 98 (2007) 1460–1466.
- [28] D.L. Widrig, J.A. Peeples, K.M. Mancl, Intermittent sand filtration for domestic wastewater treatment: effect of filter depth and hydraulic parameters, Appl. Eng. Agric. 12 (1996) 451–459.
- [29] A. Genza, A. Kornmuller, M. Jekel, Advanced phosphorus removal from membrane filtrates by adsorption on activated aluminium oxide and granulated ferric hydroxide, Water Res. 38 (2004) 3523–3530.
- [30] U. Berg, D. Donnert, A. Ehbrecht, W. Bumiller, I. Kusche, P.G. Weidler, R. Nuesch, Active filtration" for the elimination and recovery of phosphorus from waste water, Colloids Surf. A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects 265 (2005) 141–148.
- [31] E. Luz, D. Bashana, Y. Bashan, Recent advances in removing phosphorus from wastewater and its future use as fertilizer (1997–2003), Water Res. 38 (2004) 4222–4246.